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As a result, the number of Russian emissaries sent to Iran in the 1630s remained limited to just a few, and it
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garrison towns, after which it would take a full decade and the exchange of a number of missions for the out-
standing issues to be resolved.” By then Moscow was again keen to seek Iran’s assistance against the Qttomans,
but since the Safavids had definitively made peace with the Ottomans in 1639, their new overtures failed to res-
onate in [sfahan. Until the end of the Safavid era, Iran would conduct a foreign policy designed not to provoke the
Ottomans into breaking the peace of Zuhab.” The imbalance is suggested by the number of embassies traveling
back and forth during the reign of Shah Sulayman. While three major Russians ambassadors and eleven envoys
visited Iran between 1670 and 1692, the Iranians reciprocated with just two delegations. The second, led by
Muhammad Husayn Khan Beg, was mainly designed to congratulate Tsar Peter with his accession. Through it, the
Iranians also notified the Russians that they were not witling to engage in an anti-Otioman coalition, thus formal-
ly rejecting a proposal that Shah Khudabandah had made more than a hundred vears earlier.”

* A different and slightly shorter version of this article was published in Dutch in the Dutch Journal of Middle
Eastern Studies Shargiyyat 5 (1993): 1-22,

Author’s note: | would like to thank Victor Ostapchuk for his valuable comments on the penultimate draft of
this paper.
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ture is illustrated in the rather rude manner in which a Russian delegation led by Mikhail Petrovich Bariatinski and
Ivan [vanovich Chicherin was treated at the Safavid court in 1618-20. When Bariatinski died on the way to Qazvin,
Chicherin, the second in command, became the head of the delegation.” The Italian traveler Pietro della Valle, wit-
nessing the collective audience that Shah "Abbas granted to a number of foreign envoys including the Russian
ones, noted how only the shah and the Indian ambassador entered the maydan of Qazvin on horseback while the
Muscovite envoy and his retinue were made to dismount and enter on foot* Della Valle also observed how
Chicherin was snubbed in his request for a loan for his master and how he was forced to return empty-handed.”

"Abbas’s resumption of war preparations against the Ottomans shortly thereafter had the effect of changing his
Russia policy once again. This redirection explains the generous attention the Iranians accorded to the Korob’in
mission, which visited Isfahan in 1622-23, Just as in the case of the Zvenigorodskii mission almost three decades
earlier, the Iranians seem to have been especially keen to demonstrate to the Ottomans that they had close ties with
the Russians.™ Yet this time around Shah "Abbas may have underestimated the complexity of the Russian interests
which, as was seen earlier, went well beyond a desire to join forces with Iran in an anti-Ottoman coalition. In the
absence of concrete objectives, the Korob’in mission illustrates how radically Moscow’s position had changed.
Russia’s traditional anti-Polish orientation now prevailed, and the significant third party here was the Ottoman
Empire rather than the Safavid state. It is true that the Russians in 1618 had concluded the treaty of Deulino with
Poland-Lithuania. Yet this agreement did little to change their long-term strategy, which continued to be strongly
anti-Warsaw. Thus, while Moscow officially remained neutral in the Thirty-Year War that hroke out in the same
year, in reality it leaned toward participating in it on the side of the Ottomans and against Poland-Lithuania, which
had joined the Austrians in their fight against Istanbul. Such considerations formed the backdrop to the intensive
contacts that the Russians had maintained with the Ottomans ever since 1613.* These circumstances also explain
why the mandate that V. G. Korob’in brought with him to Iran did not include an anti-Ottoman proposal.®

This Russian reorientation seems to have continued during the last few years of Shah *Abbas’s reign, for noth-
ing points to a revival of Irano-Russian diplomatic traffic in this period, despite the resumption of the Safavid-
Ottoman wars and Shah "Abbas’s seizure of Baghdad in 1623. Two Russian embassies are known to have visited
Iran, in 1624 and 1626, respectively, but both seem to have concerned mostly trade matters.”

After Shah "Abbas

The death of Shah "Abbas in 1629 and the enthronement of his grandson Shah Safi marked the beginning of
considerable change in the relationship between the Safavid and Romanov states. Shah “Abbas’s successors paid
much less attention to bilateral relations, and the continuous interaction that had characterized his reign began to
level off, to the point where a delegation led by an obscure Irantan envoy may have been the extent of Shah Safi’s
interest in sending representatives to Russia. This diminished frequency may have been due in part to a change in
commercial relations between the two countries. From the sources one gets the impression that, with the death of
shah "Abbas I, the Safavid state’s involvement in trade relations diminished, giving private initiative gained the
upper hand in trade relations. This is clearly true for the trade in silk. Shah "Abbas had turned the export of his
country’s silk into a royal monopoly in 1619. Shah Safi canceled this monopoly upon his accession, and commerce
may have decreased as a rationale for sending missions north. The frequency of official traffic between both states
leveled off accordingly.”

The Russians, too, in this period showed themselves less keen on continuing cordial relations with Iran.
Aggressive behavior on the part of the Crimean Tatars and the perennial enmity of the Poles, made worse by a
Polish-Swedish alliance, led them to seek closer ties with the Ottomans. As early as 1627 an Ottoman envoy vis-
ited Moscow with a proposal to form an alliance against the Crimean Tatars who, supported by the Zaporozhian
Cossacks. at that point presented a threat to both the Turks and the Russians. Beyond that there was the ever- pres-
ent threat from Poland-Lithuania as a mutual concern. Istanbul, for instance, seems to have seen King Sigismund
111 as the instigator of unrest in the Crimea. Russia’s enmity with Poland-Lithuania was further sharpened when
the later country conciuded the Treaty of Altmark with Sweden in 1629. All this prompted the Russians to seck
support in what appeared to be leading to a war with Poland-Lithuania. This policy automatically led to closer ties
with the Ottomans, the other foe of the Poles and a state that might be willing to provide military support, The
Ottomans, in turn, were interested in Russian assistance against the Zaporozhian Cossacks.”



1613, which allowed a resumption of diplomatic and commercial traffic between the two countries. By that time
Shah "Abbas had concluded a peace treaty with the Ottomans (20 November 1612) that stipulated Iran’s neutrali-
ty in Ottoman dealings with Russia.” The first Russian mission to make its way to lran following the Time of
Troubles was that of Mikhail Tikhanov. Sent to Isfahan in 1614 to inform the shah of the enthronement of Tsar
Mikhail Romanov, Tikhanov was also charged with the task of finding a solution for the problem of the Cossacks
who continued to hold Astrakhan occupied and to try and reestablish diplomatic and commercial relations with the
Safavid state. In receiving Tikhanov, Shah 'Abbas displayed little of his usual diplomatic charm. As if to show
his contempt for the impoverished Russian state, he welcomed the Russian envoy, whose meager presents reflect-
ed Russia’s financial plight and were accordingly deemed unworthy of a Safavid ruler, in a most undiplomatic
manner and, adding insult to injury, in the company of an envoy representing the very same Cossacks whose
aggression had been the main reason for the Russian mission.™ In the negotiations that foliowed, Shah "Abbas
applied his habitual strategy: while demanding from Moscow that it safeguard Iran’s northern border against
Ottoman aggression, he made vague promises about financial and military assistance. Astrakhan still occupied,
Tikhanov, like Amir “Ali Beg before him, was forced to follow the eastern littoral of the Caspian Sea on his return
to Russia.®

The Tikhanov mission was followed by embassies headed by Shahmatov in 1615-16 and Leont’ev in 1616-17,
respectively. Their request for financial assistance and the circumspection with which they raised the issue of
Georgia and the savage campaign Shah "Abbas had conducted against it can only be interpreted as a reflection of
Russia’s continued weakness.” It is therefore not surprising that the various Safavid missions that headed north
between 1614 and 1617 exhibited little spontaneity or energy. One of those was that of Hajji Murtaza, who went
north at the same time that Tikhanov set out for Iran. Hajji Murtaza’s mission was typical of diplomatic exchange
at the time in being concerned with trade as much as with politics. In fact, the commercial task of this personal
merchant of Shah 'Abbas—he brought a quantity of silk with him and was to inquire about buying gerfalcons,
sable tigers, and squirrels for the shah—is likely to have overshadowed his political mandate. The latter centered
on Isfahan’s concern about the fate of Iranian subjects living in Russia, the tsar’s request for military and financial
aid and, most importantly, the question of sovereignty over the Caucasus and, more specifically, the territory of the
shamkhal. His standing as an embassy merchant did not, however, prevent Hajji Murtaza from promising the
Russians not just Safavid monetary aid but also military assistance. He may have acted on his own initiative in
making such statements, though it seems meore likely that he operated under instructions from the shah, who, after
all, had a long record of making promises to Russia’s rulers that were designed to buy good will and time and to
safeguard his northern borders rather than as pledges to be honored in fact.*

Shah ‘Abbas’s response to the Tikhanov mission and the first official Safavid diplomatic initiative toward
Russia following the Time of Troubles was a delegation led by Bulat Beg, who accompanied Tikhanov on his way
back to Moscow in late 1614. Dispatched to congratulate the new tsar with his accession, Bulat Beg’s mission also
represented a return to the themes that Shah "Abbas has pursued before the interruption in relations with Russia,
The letter that Bulat Beg submitted to the tsar spoke of Iranian assistance to Russia, and in his talks Bulat Beg
relayed the shah’s wish to strengthen the Irano-Russian border by way of a rebuilding of Russian strongholds on
the Rivers Sunzha and Koisu and a ceding to Russia of Shamalkhi. Yet neither in the letters he carried with him nor
in his negotiations was mention made of the specific promises extended by Hajji Murtaza

Shah "Abbas’s subsequent diplomatic initiatives continued in the same vein. A second mission, that of
Muhammad Qasim (1616-17), and the third, which was again led by Bulat Beg (1617-18), were meant as a
response to the Leont’ev mission and aimed at obtaining further guarantees with respect to the borders in the
Caucasus, following Iran’s bloody quelling of a revolt in Kakhet'iin 1616.* The potential usefulness of Russia as
a military coalition pariner and its territory as a conduit for trade diminished even further when Iran’s armies
defeated the Ottomans in 1618 and the shah concluded the peace of Sarab with the sultan later that year. What is
more, Shah “Abbas, in a reorientation of his foreign policy, at this very same time turned his attention to his south-
ern shores, where a new outside force had made its appearance. Though the English had come to Iran to engage in
trade, Shah "Abbas saw in the armed ships of the English East India Company a useful instrument to further his
political agenda. In 1622 he persuaded them to assist him in the ouster of the Portuguese from the isle of Hurmuz.
Needless to say, the Russians did not play any role in this project. How far Russia’s stock had fallen at this junc-
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ner—and a potential threat—for Iran. To be sure, the Russians did not cease to interfere in Caucasian affairs in this
period. In 1604-05, for instance, they attacked Daghistan in an attempt to avenge their earlier defeats against the
Qumugq, though they justified their campaign as a defense of Kakhet’i, which the year before had suffered an inva-
sion from the Daghistanis. However, the Russians did little to resist Shah "Abbas’s own expansionism in this peri-
od, and even when the shah attempted to strengthen his hold on Kakhet’i, their reaction was rather muted. In the
same years that the Russians took on Daghistan, the Safavid armies recaptured Azerbaijan and Armenia from the
Ottomans. Shah 'Abbas next engineered the death of King Alexander of Kakhet'i by the latter’s son, Constantin,
a renegade living in Iran as a hostage, ostensibly as a way of punishing the Georgians for their suspected pro-
Ottomans leanings and for having established diplomatic relations with Tsar Boris Godunov, but in reality with the
aim of being able to put his own protégé on the Georgian throne.”™ The shah’s subsequent expeditions into
Transcaucasia led to the eviction of the Ottomans from Kartli (the Georgian principality adjacent to Kakhet’s),
parts of Kakhet'i, and Shirvan. In the process the shah took the cities of Ganja, Baku, Darband, and eventually
Shamakhi, ordering Zu’l Figar Khan, the newly appointed ruler to Shirvan, to build defensive fortresses on the bor-
der between Tabarsaran and Daghistan® All the while the Safavid ruler merely sought guarantees that the
Russians would not form a threat to his northern borders.™ As it was, Iran’s annexation of these cities and regions
clicited but a faint Russian response. Moscow did dispatch an embassy to Isfahan to convey its displeasure with
the course of events as well as to affirm that the Russians considered the shamkhal their vassal. The tsar’s reaction
to these conquests never reached Iran, however, since the mission’s leader, Tvan Petrovich Romodanovski, perished
en route.” Instead of continuing to seek Russian partnership, the Safavid ruler now turned to Western Europe,
which at the same time began to show an active interest in Iran as a potential ally in its anti-Ottoman strategy. In
1603-04 Shah *Abbas would send six to seven missions to various European courts, requesting military assistance
and implying that, in exchange, he would be willing to entertain a diversion of Iran’s silk trade from the Levant
route to the maritime route around the Cape of Good Hope.”

As a result, the period between 1604 and 1613 witnessed relatively little interaction between Isfahan and
Moscow. 1t did not help that, as a result of the unsettled state of Russia, the connecting route was frequently made
impassible by bandits and rebels—so much so in fact that the road north of the Caspian Sea became temporarily
blocked in this period.” Even the Peace of Sitva Torok between the Habsburg Empire and the Ottomans in 1606
was unable to alter this situation, though it raised fears in Iran about a new Ottoman offensive, causing the shah to
launch a new search for potential allies. Following the rapprochement between the Austrians and the Ottomans,
Shah "Abbas sent several missions to Moscow, in part to gauge Russia’s interest in assisting in his struggle against
the Ottomans, in part to gain information on the troubled state of the country after the death of Boris Gudonov.
Sayyid "Azim headed north in 1606, just after the shah had taken Ganja after a long and arduous siege. The inclu-
sion in his mandate of a suggestion to form a military union against the Ottomans may be explained by the length
and difficulty of that siege, which must have convinced the shah that it would not be easy to fully oust his enemies
from Shirvan and Daghistan. As Bushev surmises, the shah may also have been prompted momentarily to seek
Russian assistance by his knowledge of the ongoing peace talks between the Austrians and the Ottomans—talks
that in late 1606 would lead to the Peace of Sitva Torok.™ Sayyid 'Azim’s mission did not achieve its goal. how-
ever. Neither did that of Mujib Beg, who set ont for Russia the following year, carrying with him the news that the
shah had taken Shamakhi (on June 25, 1607), and who would only return to Iran in 1613.” Something similar hap-
pened to yet another Safavid envoy, Amir "Ali Beg, who in 1608 was dispatched to gather intelligence about polit-
ical conditions in Russia as well as to resume ties with Moscow. Owing to the turmoil in Russia, it was only in
1613 that he was able to hand his letters to the (newly acceded) Tsar Mikhail Romanov. The Cossack occupation
of Astrakhan forced Amir "Ali Beg’s mission to travel via Khiva and Khurasan on the way back to Iran, where the
delegates arrived six years after their departure.™ Tn early 1611, finally, Shah *Abbas commissioned the Carmelite
friar John Thaddeus to journey to the tsar of Russia, the king of Poland and the Pope, and to propose the diversion
of fran’s silk and carpet trade via the northern route. The mission never even made it to Russia, for upon arrival in
Astrakhan, its members were taken prisoner by the Cossacks who held the town. After much effort, the Iranians
managed to secure their release three years later. Shah "Abbas never sent Thaddeus back to Moscow, possibly
because he had made peace with the Ottomans shortly after the envoy’s first departure in 1611.7

It was only the return of order and stability in Russia, symbolized by the accession of the Romanov dynasty in



the same time Shah "Abbas was about to conclude an anti-Ottoman alliance with Simon 1, the ruler of Kartli, and
Alexander II, the ruler of Kakhet'i.* Zvenigordskit and his men were well received in Qazvin and during the
Nawruz festivities of 1595, where the shah celebrated his recent victories against the Uzbegs, they were paraded
in full view of the Ottoman and Bukharan merchants present in town so as to show Iran’s rivals that it had impor-
tant allies.* During the audience granted on the occasion of the New Year, the shah brought up the issue of the
shamkhal, asking the Russians not to wage war on this vassal of the Iranians, but to turn their armed forces against
the Ottomans who were still occupying Shirvan. As a way of encouraging the Russians to assist him in ousting the
Ottomans from that region, the shah reiterated his promise of Darband and Baku should the Russians wrest those
towns from the Ottomans.” This seems to have been little more than rhetoric, however, and though well treated at
the Safavid court, Zvenigorodskii returned without any commitment on the part of the Safavid ruler.

Things deteriorated from there. The next Russian mission, that of Vasilii Andreivich, which in 13595 was sent
to Iran to explore the shah’s position on the Ottoman question and Russia’s expansionism, was rather coolly
received at the Safavid court. Vasilii Tiufiakin, who headed south in 1597 in the company of Imam Quli Beg, a
commercial agent whom the shah had previously sent to Russia, was the next envoy to try and convince Iran’s ruler
of the need to join the Russians in their struggle against the Ottomans.™ His mission found a tragic end, for
Tiufiakin himself died before reaching Iran, his successor, Entel’ianov, succumbed to the plague in Gilan, and a
third leader, Dubrovski, perished in Iran as well.* The rather uncivil manner in which Shah "Abbas treated the sur-
viving members of the mission bespeaks the general Iranian contempt for Russians, people they thought boorish
and primitive, but no doubt also reflects the Safavid ruler’s lack of interest in Russia as an ally by that time *

Shah "Abbas responded to the hapless Tiufiakin mission by sending the Pir Quli Beg delegation to Moscow in
1599. Pir Quli Beg did not command a full-fledged diplomatic mission. Trade, so often the raison d’&tre of offi-
cial relations between early modern courts, seems to have been its most important rationale, judging by the fact
that Pir Quli Beg was accompanied by a number of merchants who carried precious cloth with them.® Though its
members seem to have misbehaved rather badly while in Russia, they were nevertheless treated quite cordially by
that country’s authorities.” Bushev plausibly sees the indulgence of the Russians and the tolerance with which they
met the many demands of the [ranians as a sign that Moscow was keen on forging an anti-Ottoman coalition with
Shah "Abbas.®

By this time a clear asymmetry had developed in the cnergy with which both states pursued their contacts, How
much the Iranians and Russians differed in the importance they attached to the formation of an anti-Ottoman coali-
tion becomes abundantly clear from the way in which the regent Boris Godunov responded to the rather insignif-
icant Pir Quli Beg mission following his accession as tsar in 1600. The head of the mission that headed south in
that year to explain Russia’s behavior and designs in the Caucasus and to suggest the formation of a military mis-
sion with Iran, Prince Alexander Zhirov-Zasickin, is called veliko-posol’, great envoy, in the Russian sources.
Apparently still hopeful that Iran might provide real military assistance, the tsar instructed Zhirov-Zasiekin to act
cautiously with regard to Russian claims on the Caucasus.* Shah *Abbas meanwhile, having concluded his Uzbeg
campaigns, was little inclined to consider the Russian proposal, which was in part intended against the Uzbegs,
whom the Russians considered a growing military threat, According to the Safavid court chronicler Mulla Jalal
Munajjim, the Russian envoy implored the shah to grant him the favor of the pa-bus, the foot kiss, but was even
denied the zamin-bus, the ground kiss.® Even his renewed plans for a confrontation with the Ottomans did not
translate in a changed position vis-a-vis the Russians; it merely prompted the shah to intensify his strategy of try-
ing to convince Moscow that an alliance was still among the possibilities. In 1603, shortly before the outbreak of
the new Safavid-Ottoman conflict, Shah *Abbas dispatched a new mission, headed by Lachin Beg, to Moscow. Its
mandate did not include a joint military strategy but merely aimed at discussing Russian military action in the
Caucasus with the aim of indirectly weakening the Ottomans.*

There were yet other reasons why at this point Shah "Abbas distanced himself from Moscow, despite the out-
break of yet another round in the war with the Ottomans. For one, Russia itself now seemed less keen on cultivat-
ing closer relations with Iran, perhaps because its leaders now envisioned a wider European coalition against the
Ottomans.” Rather more important was the fact that Russia by that time had fallen victim to a period of wide-
spread internal chaos, manifesting itself in unstable leadership and loss of control over outlying areas in revoit.
This so-called Time of Troubles (1598-1613) severely diminished the country’s status as a credible military part-




which, though humiliating, gave the Safavid army a free hand against the Uzbegs. Nor were the Russians deceived
by this policy, having known about a pending Ottoman-Safavid accord since 1589. The tsar was clearly not inter-
ested in peaceful relations between the Safavids and the Ottomans, fearing that the Ottomans might be tempted to
use Cossack incursions into the Azov region as an excuse to threaten Russia with an attack by their proxies, the
Crimean Tatars.* In a show of their dissatisfaction with the direction of Shah "Abbas’s policy, the Russians
returned the presents brought by the Iranian envoy. Simultaneously Moscow prodded Istanbul to keep the Cossacks
in check. What is more, its relations with Poland having taken center stage, Moscow even gauged the sultan’s
interest in forming a joint anti-Polish alliance. This latter strategy would remain an abiding factor in Russia’s for-
eign policy, even if it failed against the Ottoman condition that it give up Kazan and Astrakhan in returm.”

The Russians reacted with the same reluctance to the next Iranian mission, led by Hajji Khusraw. Shah "Abbas,
buffeted by losses against the Uzbegs, had dispatched the Hajji Khusraw mission to Moscow in 1592, even before
the return of the Kay mission. Awaiting the results of talks with the Habsburg ruler, Rudolph II, with regard to the
formation of an anti-Ottoman coalition, the Russian tsar was not in a rush to receive Hajji Khusraw.®® It was Hajji
Khusraw’s task to communicate Shah "Abbas’s conquest of Gilan to the Russians, but commercial motives seem
to have prevailed. He was charged with buying weaponry in Russia, and as a result of the talks he conducted the
Russians granted toll freedom to the goods that were imported into their country under the shah’s auspices. Once
again "Abbas did not await the return of the envoy before he sent yet another mission to Russia, this one led by
Hayjji Iskandar, the first Safavid state merchant to travel north.* Neither Hajji Khusraw nor Hajji Iskandar achieved
much in the way of closer political relations, for which obviously little common ground existed. For the time being,
iran and Russia would concentrate on maintaining and strengthening their commercial relations.

At this point, Iran’s preoccupation with Russia’s expansionism in the Caucasus region moved into the fore-
ground as a complicating factor and an additional obstacle to closer relations between the two states. This devel-
opment had its origins in the turbulent state of the Caucasus, where especially the fiery wribes inhabiting Daghistan
frequently launched incursions into the territory of surrounding peoples. Matters were further complicated by the
fact that, with the Russian penetration and the Ottoman expedition against Astrakhan of 1569 and their subsequent
occupation of Azerbaijan and parts of Georgia a decade later, the area had become fiercely contested between
Ottomans, Safavids and Russians. As was noted earlier, it was to seek protection against the Ottomans, the
Crimean Tatars and the Daghistani tribes that a number of local khanates in the Caucasian turned to Moscow. Over
time, the Russians more and more sided with the rulers of Kakhet'i, acting as the overlords of this Georgtan king-
dom. In 1587, as King Alexander of Kakhet’t and his sons decided to seek protection against the Qumugs of
Daghistan by declaring themselves vassals of the Russian tsar, Russia announced that it would build a fortress on
the River Terek for the sake of Georgia’s safety. In the next five years Russian armies went to war several times,
routing the Kabardians and briefly occupying Tarkhu, the residence of the shamkhal, the ruler of the Qumuq. In
the process the Russians built new fortresses on the Sunzha and Koisu rivers.”

As long as Shah "Abbas was preoccupied with his wars against the Ottomans and the Uzbegs and engaged in
his internal administrative and military reforms, he was forced to acquiesce in Russia’s activities in and on behalf
of Kakhet’i and in particular the ongoing building of Russian fortresses on the Caucasian frontier. After 1590,
however, as he made peace with the Ottomans and his domestic power and authority became more firmly estab-
lished, Russia’s southern forays became one of Shah *Abbas’s direct preoccupations. Iran’s subsequent diplomat-
ic missions to Moscow reflect this. A Russian expedition against Daghistan in 1593 prompted Shah *Abbas to dis-
patch Hadi Beg to Moscow once again, charging him with finding ways to prevent the Russians from encroaching
further on the Caucasus.” However, mindful of the possibility that Iran might need Russian support in a future con-
flict with the Ottomans, the Safavid ruler decided to move cautiously in his resistance to Russian claims on
Daghistan and other parts of the Caucasus that were still tied to Iran in a tributary relationship.™

As it was, "Abbas did not have immediate plans to resume war with the Ottomans. For the time being all of his
time and energy were absorbed by his struggle against his domestic enemies, the Qizilbash tribesmen, and his con-
tinuing confrontation with the Uzbegs. The Russians, meanwhile, having been rebuffed by the Ottomans, were
secking a rapprochement with Iran. An embassy led by Andrei Zvenigorodskii arrived in Iran in 1594 with the task
of exhorting the Safavids to move against the Ottomans {as well as the Uzbegs). The timing was auspicious, for at



ward again. Ever since the outbreak of a new Ottoman-Safavid war in 1578, large parts of the Caucasus had fall-
en to the Ottomans. In 1583-84 Osman Pasha’s armies had taken control of Shirvan in addition to Daghistan and
Georgia, and in 1588-89 their domination would extend to Ganja in Qarabagh and Nakhjavan in Armenia. In the
process the Ottomans had destroyed the fort that the Russians had constructed at the mouth of the Terck River. The
Russians reacted to these developments by establishing diplomatic and commercial relations with Kakhet’i, the
richest part of Georgia, which had not fallen under direct Ottoman domination and which managed to balance both
outside powers, and by building new fortifications in the Caucasus.™ Moscow was now ready to resume relations
with the Safavid state as well as with the khanates ot Central Asia** This reorientation coincided with the coming
to power of Shah 'Abbas [ in Iran.

Relations under Shah "Abbas |

The Russian reaction to Shah Khudabandah’s dispatch of the Hadi Beg mission was swift. Iran’s promise with
regard to Baku and Darband, which anyhow was of little weight since it had only been transmitted orally, did not
elicit the enthusiastic Russian response and commitment to assistance that the Iranians may have hoped for. Yet
Moscow did reciprocate, for Hadi Beg returned to Iran accompanied by a Russian envoy named Grigorii
Borisovich Vasil’chikov. We know precious little about this mission, but since it concerned a so-called “light” del-
egation, intelligence gathering and, perhaps, official or “royal” trade are likely to have been its main task.
Vasil'chikov no doubt alse was to probe the chance of continuing friendly relations with Iran, in addition to
requesting more details about the promises with regard to Darband and Baku ™

Regardless of Tsar Feodor’s motives for dispatching Vasil’chikov to Tran, circumstances had changed since the
accession of Shah "Abbas. His extenstve military campaigning brought the new Safavid ruler face to face with a
series of adversaries and the constant risk of having to fight simultaneously on two fronts against his most formi-
dable external enemies, the Ottomans and the Uzbegs. He therefore naturally searched for ways to be relieved on
either front, and in the end resolved to conclude a temporary peace with his western neighbors so as to have the
time and opportunity to take on the Uzbegs as well as to engage in pressing domestic reforms. This must have been
the nature of his dealings with the Ottoman embassy that stayed in Tran while Vasil chikov was awaiting the shah’s
return from Khurasan. Seeking an accommaodation with the Ottomans was also the aim of the mission that Shah
"Abbas sent to Istanbul later in 1589.* This priority of concerns explains why the shah was not in a particular rush
to meet Hadi Beg and Vasil’chikov and only received them after his return from Khurasan, in April 1589.%

The missions that Shah "Abbas dispatched to Moscow and istanbul, respectively, in 1589—Budaq Beg and
Hadi Beg went north while Mihdi-quli Khan, the governor of Ardabil, headed west—further reflect the ditference
in importance that " Abbas attached to relations with Russia and the Ottoman Empire, respectively. Whereas Budagq
Beg and Hadi Beg set out for Moscow accompanied by a mere thirty-six men, including a separate contingent from
Gilan, and without a mandate, the mission going to Istanbul consisted of one thousand persons.® Of course, this
discrepancy illustrates the inherently greater weight and significance Safavid rulers tended to accord to the
Ottoman state, both as a neighboring empire and a Muslim realm, and as Iran’s most formidable adversary. Yet it
also suggests that the shah, unwilling to jeopardize a pending agreement with the Ottomans, had no obvious plans
to join the Russians in an alliance. The letter presented in Moscow on behalf of Shah “Abbas expressed a generic
desire for cordial and firm relations, and Hadi Beg and Budaq Beg spoke of a military alliance only in the vaguest
of terms, thus dispelling any illusions about concrete plans in that direction. The reiteration of the previously made
commitment with regard to the cession of Baku and Darband, also stated in the letter, suggests an attempt to cre-
ate a rift between the Russians and the Ottomans—-the latter were, after all, still in possession of those two cities—
while appearing amenable to the Russians.® The same design is reflected in the apparent approval given to the con-
struction of a number of Russian fortresses south of the Terek and Koisu rivers.*” The only other result of the mis-
sion, the expression of a Russian desire to improve economic relations, must have pleased above all the separate

delegation from Gilan, whose main task it was to complain about the poor treatment of Iranian merchants in
Astrakhan.*

Shah "Abbas continued his policy of disinformation with the so-called Kay mission, which set out for Moscow
in 1591.” Through this mission he reiterated his previously made proposal to form a military alliance, in spite of
the fact that he had just made peace with the Ottomans. In reality, the shah did not intend to jeopardize the peace,




with that country’s reputation as a primitive and barbarian realm, a reputation that earned it the nickname of
“Alter-Turca” in Western Europe.” Secondly, the Russians considered the Ottomans far less threatening than the
Poles or, for that matter, the Crimean Tatars, who as late as 1571 marched on Moscow and torched the city. Indeed,
Moscow saw the Ottomans as potential allies in its struggle against those two enemies, and the Russians natural-
ly were reluctant to give up good or at least working relations with Istanbul in exchange for vague promises from
either Western Europe or Iran. During the entire subsequent episode Russia, while increasingly willing to entertain
anti-Ottoman proposals, left the door open for initiatives from the sultan and never ceased to exchange embassies
with the Sublime Porte.*

The aggression of the Crimean Tatars and heavy losses in its wars against Poland and Sweden in the early 1570s
must have motivated Moscow to keep its options with Istanbul open. Yet the simultaneous Ottoman thrust toward
the Caspian Sea and beyond it, Central Asia, probably made the Russians realize the fragility of relations with the
Porte. When in 1569 the Ottomans launched a direct attack against Astrakhan, by then a rising commercial empo-
rium serving international trade, Tsar Ivan IV understandably turned to Iran, a country that had long felt threatened
by Turkish expansionism. The first mission he sent to Qazvin was clearly designed to underscore the importance
Russia attached to opening relations, for it carried a number of German-made cannon, varyingly reported as 30
and 100, 500 arquebus, and 4,000 muskets, all items that were in great demand in the Safavid realm.?

Shah Tahmasb, bound by the Treaty of Amasya and reluctant to antagonize the Ottomans, did not take advan-
tage of this and other opportunities to join an anti-Turkish alliance. He thus declined a Venetian proposal to that
effect in 1571, and until the end of his reign Iran and the Ottoman Empire would coexist in peace. 1t was under his
successor, Shah Khudabandah, whose accession in 1576 was shortly followed by an outbreak of yet another round
in the Safavid-Ottoman wars, that Iran’s policy underwent a change. Following a Russian decision in 1586 not to
enter into joint military action with the Ottomans against Iran, Khudabandah, buffeted by the loss of Azerbaijan,
including Tabriz, and large tracts of Shirvan stretching as far as the Caspian Sea, sent the first official and full-
fledged Safavid diplomatic mission to Moscow. Its leader, Hadi Beg, is said to have suggested an anti-Ottoman
alliance, promising the Russians sovereignty over Baku and Darband, even if the shah himself would recapture
these citics from the Ottomans.>

That promise reflects the fact that in this period relations between Iran and Russia were increasingly influenced
by developments in the Caucasus. Russia’s offensive against Astrakhan in the mid-sixteenth century was soon foi-
lowed by a further penetration of the lands between the Black and Caspian Seas. In its attemnpt to extend its power
farther into the Caucasus, Russia entered a mountainous region inhabited by a bewildering variety of mostly trib-
al peoples who often engaged in plundering raids against each other’s territory. Further complicating the instabil-
ity caused by regional conflict was the geopolitical status of the Caucasus as a frontier region where the territori-
al claims of adjoining powers— Safavids, Ottomans and eventually the Russians as well—came together and col-
lided. Safavid claims to Georgia went back to 1521, when a Qizilbash regiment entered the eastern region of
Kakhet’i and plundered the towns of Zagam and Giram, forcing King Levan (Lavand Khan) to submit o the
authority of Shah Isma'il.” S8hah Tahmasb’s expedition against Georgia of 1540 caused a great deal of destruction
and formed the prelude to further campaigns and a more lasting Safavid presence in the region. The Ottoman defeat
of a combined Georgian army a few years later enabled Istanbul to extend its influence over Imeret’i, the western
half of Georgia. As for the Russians, they were initially were drawn into the area in part because various, espe-
cially Christian, groups living there approached them, seeking protection against aggressive neighbors and expan-
sionist outsiders. The Daghistanis in 1567 sent an envoy to Moscow to request help against the Kabardians and the
Crimean Tatars.™ It was a Kabardian request for protection against the Ottomans and their vassals, the Crimean
Tatars, that led to the building of the first Russian fortress on the confluence of the Terek and Sunzha rivers, the
first of what would become a string of strongholds on this segment of Russia’s southern frontier. And it was the
building of that fortress which gave the Ottomans the excuse to invade the area and attack Astrakhan in 1569, thus
prompting the local rulers to draw even closer to the Russians as potential protectors against hostile neighbors and
encroaching outside forces.”” For the time being, however, the Russians were in no position to give their full atten-
tion to the south, preoccupied as they were with a protracted struggle with Poland and Sweden over domination of
the Baltic region. Only the (temporary) conclusion of the Livonian War in 1583 and a succession crisis in the
khanate of the Crimean Tatars enabled Tsar Feodor, who in 1584 succeeded Ivan LV, to turn his attention south-



Nicopolis in 1396 raised the specter of an unchecked Muslim advance into south-central Europe. Timur’s rout of
the Turks at Ankara in 1402 brought temporary relief, rekindling hopes among European rulers of joint action
against the Ottomans.” The fall of Constantinople in 1453, though it dealt a severe blow to Christian morale, also
revived the Crusader spirit, prompting the Pope to call for a combined reconquest of the capital of Eastern
Christianity and the liberation of the Holy sepulcher in Jerusalem.™ This led to a series of contacts between Europe
and the Ag-quyunlu ruler Uzun Hasan (r. 1453-78), the only remaining eastern ruler of consequence to be
approached after the fall of the Christian enclave of Trebizond (Trabzon) in 1461, Several missions went back
and forth between Tabriz, the Aq-quyunlu capital, on the one hand, and Venice and to a lesser extent Rome, on the
other. When Uzun Hasan requested weapons it briefly looked as if these contacts might bear fruit, in spite of the
complications involved in transporting armaments by sea. Yet Venetian opportunism quickly doomed the enter-
prise. Though the Venetians knew themselves threatened by the Ottoman march into central Burope, they also real-
ized that Istanbul held the key to the lucrative Levant trade. The Serenissima therefore reacted haltheartedly to the
initiatives and in 1479 eventually bowed to a Turkish peace proposal.®

A new round in relations between Europe and Iran was launched with the establishment of Safavid power in
1501. Shah Isma’il’s fame as a ruler able and willing to take on the Turks soon grew to mythical proportions among
Europeans who, desperate for relief from the Turkish scourge, were eager to believe the inflated stories of a super-
human warrior coming out of the east. Isma’il was thus quickly incorporated into the new Crusading project that
was launched by Pope Leo X in 1517.% In fact, at that point Safavid interests paralleled those of the Christian West,
for Shah Isma’il, bruised by his defeat against the Ottomans at Chaldiran in 1514, was keen to find allies as well.
Missions were again exchanged, mostly with Rome, which had begun to overshadow the declining Venetian repub-
lic, but little was achieved. Nor were the diptomatic exchanges between Shah Tahmasb and the Emperor Charles
V any more fruitful. The Ottomans, after all, were not Iran’s only concern; the Safavids also had to include their
eastern neighbors, the Uzbegs, in their strategic considerations, for the latter maintained diplomatic contacts with
the Ottomans that were partly directed against the Safavid state. In 1530 Tahmasb, mindful of the dangers of hav-
ing to fight on two fronts at once, made peace with the sultan before waging war against the Uzbegs. This natu-
rally diminished the chances of an alliance between Iran and the European powers.”

Moscow had been part of the western cftorts to form a coalition against Istanbul since 1497, when it had formed
an anti-Ottoman alliance with Moldova, Hungary and Poland.* Further contacts between Russia and countries such
as France, the Habsburg Empire, and Spain, took place during the reign of the Habsburg Emperor Charles V.2’
These did not immediately generate communications between the tsar and the shah over the same issue. Russia had
its own agenda, and the Ottomans were hardly at the top of it. Thus, when Muscovy dispatched envoys to Uzun
Hasan, it was not with the intent of finding common ground against the Ottomans so much as to seek assistance
against the Golden Horde.™ Shah Tsma’il engaged in diplomatic traffic with western European states and, as was
seen earlier, also approached Russia. Though receptive to European overtures, especially after his defeat at
Chaldiran, the Safavid ruler was prevented from pursuing too close a bond by the strategic dilemma that the
Safavids would face until the mid-seventeenth century: a need to balance Ottoman and Uzbeg threats. More seri-
ous contacts, including contacts with Russia, took place in the reign of Shah Tahmasb, when the Ottomans repeat-
edly invaded Azerbaijan and Shirvan. The Ottoman attempt to take both provinces was no doubt the direct reason
for the shah to send envoys to Moscow. But Shah Tahmasb, oo, proved reluctant to antagonize the Ottomans by
openly allying himself with a third party, especially after concluding the Peace of Amasya with Istanbul in 1555.

The role played by the Golden Horde in Russia’s strategic considerations suggests how misleading it would be
to regard the triangular relationship between Europe, Russia and Iran as it emerged after 1550 as a simple config-
uration aimed at a common enemy. To be sure, the expansionist policy of especially the Russians in the Black Sea
zone would eventually lead to a clash between the two, but not until the late seventeenth century.” Until that time,
they occasionally encroached upon each other’s spheres of influence, such as happened in the 1560s, when Sultan
Selim 1T launched a campaign against the eastern Caucasus and Astrakhan, blocking the transit route to Iran by
occupying the western littoral of the Caspian between Baku and Darband.* Yet the ambivalent position of Moscow
in the international geopolitical balance of power renders its relationship with Istanbul a good deal more complex
than a simple antagonism pointing to Russia’s inevitable incorporation into an alliance with Western Europe that
would also include Iran. First and foremost, Europe’s desire to include Russia into such a coalition was at variance
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In Tran, the foundations were laid for a viable and enduring center of authority with the rise of Shah Isma’il as
a warrior-king keen to extend his realm beyond Tabriz, where he had proclaimed his sovereignty in 1501. Within
a short period Shah Isma’il managed to conquer large parts of western and central Iran, building a reputation as an
intrepid leader whose fame reached far beyond the borders of his realm. Upon the shah’s death in 1524, the throne
passed to his son, Tahmasb. Shah Tahmasb I (r. 1524-76) first had to contend with a serious tribal challenge to his
authority that almost overwhelmed him. Emerging victorious from this power struggle, he ended up reigning for
over half a century and in that period succeeded in consolidating and strengthening the legitimacy of the dynasty
and its territorial claims.

Russia, meanwhile, was in the process of broadening its power and influence as well. Muscovy had long been
part of a triangular relationship with Kazan and the Crimean Tatars that was aimed at a common enemy, the Golden
Horde. This alliance did not, however, prevent each of these parties from harboring its own expansionist dreams.
Vulnerable because negative, the coalition broke up as soon as the Golden Horde ceased to be a common threat by
submitting to Mengli Giray, the ruler of the Crimean Tatars.® In 1521 the latter attacked Moscow, forcing the
Russians to reassess their strategic interests and to seek assistance from the khanate of Astrakhan, situated north
of he Caspian Sea at the mouth of the Volga. Its annexation of the city-states of Kazan and Astrakhan provided
Muscovy with a stepping-stone for a further southward thrust.

The first diplomatic contact between Safavid Iran and the rulers of Muscovy appears to have taken place in
1521, when an Iranian envoy visited Tsar Vasilii ITI {r. 1505-33) on behalf of Shah Isma’il. Unfortunately, nothing
more is know about this encounter, and no more envoys seem to have been exchanged during the reign of Shah
Isma’il." It is quite conceivable, however, that part of this envoy’s mandate was to probe Moscow’s willingness
to join ranks against the Ottomans. After all, following his defeat against the Ottomans on the battlefield of
Chaldiran, Shah Isma’il had approached Western rulers with similar intentions.,* Information about Shah
Tahmash’s contract with Russia is equally as scanty. In 1552 he sent an emissary named Sayyid Husayn to Moscow
with the intent of establishing diplomatic relations with the Russians.” Other envoys traveled back and forth
between Iran and Russia in this period as well, though on the Iranian side most of these represented the semi-
autonomous regions of Shirvan and Gilan rather than the central Safavid state. Commercial relations are likely to
have been central to such contacts. In 1544, for instance, Alqas Mirza, the brother of Shah Tahmasb and the begler-
beg (governor} of Shirvan, petitioned Tsar Ivan TV for a renewal of the privileges of Armenian merchants with
respect to their trading activities in Russia.” The ruler of Shamakhi in 1554 sent representatives to Moscow to
request a revival of the old Armenian trade.” The envoy who visited Moscow in 1562 probably represented Shirvan
as well.'" And the emissary who in late 1563 entered Moscow had been dispatched by the beglerbeg of Shamalkhi.”
In the aftermath of Muscovy’s annexation of Kazan and Astrakhan, the Caucasus and by extension Iran became
more accessible for merchants and diplomats coming from the north, The results are seen in the various expedi-
tions undertaken shortly thereafler by the English Muscovy Company, an enterprise established with the purpose
of opening up a trade route to Iran and India via Russia that undertook a series of commercial expeditions to the
Safavid state between 1550 and 1580." Yet commercial and diplomatic traffic continued to face huge obstacles.
Primitive circumstances, a lack of safety, and the forbidding climate of the south Russian steppes made the route
often impracticable, as a result of which the exchange of wares remained limited. Rus’ offered leather, fur and
metal wares, while Iran furnished precious cloth and silk. Caravans, usually equipped by Armenians, were forced
to travel in great number and accompanied by armed convoy, and even then were exposed to attacks by bandits.”

The Beginning of Anti-Ottoman Alliances

As stated earlier, Russo-Iranian diplomatic contacts in the Safavid period built on long-standing efforts by the
Christian powers of Europe, including the papacy, to enlist Iran in their struggle against the Ottomans. In fact, these
efforts go back as far as the Crusades and the quest of the Christian states participating in them to find eastern allies
ready to join in the battle against the forces of Islam. The same quest had motivated the contacts between European
courts and the I1-Khanid rulers of Iran, which lasted until the latter converted to Islam. The phenomenal rise of
Timur Gurgan at the turn of the fifteenth century had given rise to similar expectations, though by that time the
targeted enemy was no longer the Mamluk state but the upstart Ottomans, whose defeat of the Crusaders at



Veselovskii’s source material—in particular contain a wealth of information on Russo-Iranian political and eco-
nomic relations in the Safavid period and are indispensable for whoever wishes to gain a comprehensive picture
of the diplomatic and commercial interface between these two states.” The present essay draws mostly on this lat-
ter scholarship— in addition to alternative sources such as sporadic references in the Persian chronicles, the odd
merchant report, and contemporaneous observations by foreign travelers—to outline the development of Russo-
Iranian contacts around the common Ottoman threat. Its particular focus is the period from the accession of Shah
"Abbas I, which marked a return to stability in Iranian domestic politics and, by extension, its relations with the
outside world, to 1639, the year when Shah “Abbas’s successor, Shah Safi I, made peace with Istanbul and ceased
being an active partner in the multilateral quest to encircle and isolate the Ottoman Empire. My focus in this will
be on the nature of these contacts and on the reasons why, as far as the Safavids are concerned, they never rose
above the level of rhetorical, almost ritual expressions of intent. An overview of the antecedents of the relation-
ship will precede the actual discussion,

Antecedents

Coin hoards from Russia and as far as Scandinavia provide evidence that commercial links between Russia and
Iran go back to pre-Islamic times. The main route between the two had always been the fluvial Volga route and the
Caspian Sea basin, where merchants would follow either the western littoral or, at least until the thirteenth centu-
ry, avoid bandit-infested Daghistan by crossing the sea itself between the northern ports and Darband, traditional-
ly the point of entry into Tran. Over time, the intcraction between the two lands followed a certain rhythm accord-
ing to stability and prosperity or political unrest and economic crisis in either the north or the south, all of which
was predicated on the existence or absence of viable political and commercial centers at either end and a modicum
of safety en route. Thus the heyday of the Khazar state in the eighth and ninth centuries saw a certain degree of
commercial activity between Rus’ and the Middle East. The same is true for the emergence of the Kievan Empire
in the tenth century and the rise of the Vladimir-Suz’dal state a hundred years later.® The Mongol invasion of
Viadimir-Suzdalia and the eastern half of the Middle East in the 1300s destroyed much of this trading link, though
the subsequent consolidation of [1-Khanid rule in Iran and that of the Golden Horde in northeastern Rus’ created a
relatively stable environment conducive to a resumption of trading activities

It was only with the decline of the Golden Horde and the rise of Muscovy as an independent and expansionist
city-state as of the early fourteenth century that a lasting revival of trade between Russia and Iran was made pos-
sible. By the early 1500s Moscow’s influence reached far enough south into the Don basin to lead to direct con-
tacts with the Ottoman state, which by that time had extended its control to the northern shores of the Black Sea,
reducing the Crimean Tatars to vassalage in 1475. Commercial relations along the River Don as far as the Sea of
Azov dominated the contacts between Moscow and the Crimean Tatars. Until 1521, when the Crimean Tatars
attacked Moscow, these contacts were based on the mutual benefit flowing from the assistance given by the
khanate in Russia’s struggle against the remnants of the Golden Horde, as well as from the free passage granted
by the Tatars to Russian caravans in exchange for the payment of protection costs.” The Crimean Tatars operated
in a mediating role as well. Thus in the first diplomatic contacts between Moscow and the Sublime Porte in 1492,
Mengli-Giray Khan, the ruler of the Crimean Tatars, and at that point a vassal of the Ottomans, seems to have acted
as representative and go-between for Tsar Ivan TI1.*

Contacts between Russia and the various post-llkhanid principalities that ruled over parts of Iran were sporadic
at this time and appear to have concerned mostly commercial matters. Russian envoys visited Timurid Herat in
1464-65, while in the latter year an envoy called Hasan Beg appeared in Moscow as the representative of Farrukh
Yasar, the ruler of Shamakhi and Baku. Tsar Ivan UI in wrn dispatched an envoy by the name of Papin to
Shamakhi. Yet these contacts were incidental and their true import was most likely the exchange of trade com-
modities.’ Two obstacles stood in the way of closer and more sustained diplomatic relations: the vast stretch of
unpacified territory subject to a punishing climate separating the lands under Moscow’s jurisdiction from the world
of Islam, and the fact that, in the aftermath of the turmoil caused by Timur’s campaigns at the turn of the fifteenth
century, conditions in Iran long remained little conducive to sustained political and commercial contact with the
outside world. Both circumstances were to change in the course of the sixteenth century. Tran, coalescing around
a clearly defined political center, at this time entered a new period of relative stability. Russia, meanwhile, extend-
ed its dominion southward by incorporating the Muslim khanates of Kazan and Astrakhan.
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Introduction

Few questions preoccupied early modern European diplomacy as intensely and persistently as what was known
at the time as the Turkish threat. Sultan Mehmed II's capture of Constantinople in 1453 prompted the first organ-
ized Western reaction to the Ottoman march into the Balkans, but it was only with the second Ottoman siege of
Vienna in 1683 that the tide definitively turned in favor of the coalition of European powers that had been formed
to fend off the advance of the Turks. The intervening two centuries witnessed an unending series of efforts to deliv-
er Christian Europe from the Ottoman fury—efforts that halted and vltimately succeeded in repelling the sultan’s
armies. Leadership in this endeavor varied, switching back and forth between a Papacy keen on rekindling the
Crusades, Venice, the maritime Republic that forever hesitated between Christian solidarity and its own commer-
cial interests, and Poland-Lithuania, the state that in the late seventeenth century would play an important role in
the coalition that helped put a definitive halt to the Ottoman thrust into Central Europe.

Much has been written on this episode in history; an extensive literature examines the struggle between the
Sublime Porte and Europe’s leading powers from the moment in 1453 that Pope Nicholas V called Christianity to
a Crusade against the Turks, until the protracted Ottoman retreat from Central Europe that commenced in the late
1600s. Quite a few studies address questions pertaining to Europe’s efforts to forge an anti-Ottoman alliance,
focusing on the complexity of intra-European relations and its effect on these efforts, or on relations between indi-
vidual Western countries and the imperial court at Istanbul.' The existing scholarship even encompasses Romanov
Russia, which, being separated from Ottoman territory by a permeable steppe frontier, was at times approached as
a partner in the endeavor and participated in the Holy Alliance with the Polish-Lithuanian commonwealth and the
Austro-Hungarian Empire that came into being in 1684 Attention has also been paid to European initiatives
toward Iran, a country that, though remote, was potentially atractive for the West as a force that might close the
cordon sanitaire around the Ottoman Empire by attacking the Turks from the rear.* In fact, it has been recognized
that the very antecedents of Europe’s anti-Ottoman policy involve lran, for as early as the thirteenth century vari-
ous Furopean powers had approached the II-Khanids, the Mongol rulers who at that time ruled on the Iranian
plateau, in the hope of gaining their assistance in recapturing the holy Christian sites of Palestine from the
Mamluks. In the centuries that followed, the Ottomans took over from the Mamluks as the main adversary of the
Christian powers, and the Ag-quyunlu and later the Safavids replaced the I1-Khanids as potential allies of the West.
Yet the stakes remained the same.

The missing link in this search for alliances remains the relationship between Iran and the Russian state, orig-
inally called Muscovy after the city that formed the nucleus of its expanding power. It is easy to see why few
Western or Iranian scholars have paid much attention to this connection. Safavid chroniclers pay little heed to
Iran’s relationship with the world beyond the realm of Islam, and Russia, a land located in a remote northern clime
and populated by people who enjoyed a rather low reputation among ranians, shares in their aloofness. Much of
the material relevant to the relationship is found in Russian archives, and the mostly Russian scholarship on the
issue remains little known among non-Russian students of Tran. The massive collection of primary documents
assembled and published by N. 1. Veselovskii, and the studies of P. P. Bushev—which heavily draw on



